

ADOPTED: 21 February 2018 doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5206

# Guidance on the characterisation of microorganisms used as feed additives or as production organisms

EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP), Guido Rychen, Gabriele Aquilina, Giovanna Azimonti, Vasileios Bampidis, Maria de Lourdes Bastos, Georges Bories, Andrew Chesson, Pier Sandro Cocconcelli, Gerhard Flachowsky, Jürgen Gropp, Boris Kolar, Maryline Kouba, Marta López-Alonso, Secundino López Puente, Alberto Mantovani, Baltasar Mayo, Fernando Ramos, Maria Saarela, Roberto Edoardo Villa, Robert John Wallace, Pieter Wester, Boet Glandorf, Lieve Herman, Sirpa Kärenlampi, Jaime Aguilera, Montserrat Anguita, Rosella Brozzi and Jaume Galobart

| Draft Endorsed by the FEEDAP Panel* | 18 May 2017       |
|-------------------------------------|-------------------|
| Submitted for public consultation   | 15 June 2017      |
| End of public consultation          | 15 September 2017 |
| Adopted by the FEEDAP Panel         | 21 February 2018  |
| Implementation date                 | 1 September 2018  |

# Abstract

This guidance document is intended to assist the applicant in the preparation and the presentation of an application, as foreseen in Article 7.6 of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003, for the authorisation of additives for use in animal nutrition. It specifically covers the characterisation of microorganisms used as feed additives or as production organisms.

© 2018 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

Keywords: microorganism, production strain, genetically modified microorganisms, feed additives

Requestor: European Food Safety Authority

Question numbers: EFSA-Q-2016-00069 and EFSA-Q-2017-00211

Correspondence: feedap@efsa.europa.eu

<sup>\*</sup> Sections 3.1 and 3.2 were also endorsed by the EFSA Panel on Genetically Modified Organisms (GMO), EFSA Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids (CEF) and EFSA Panel on Food Additives and Nutrient Sources Added to Food (ANS) on 18 May (GMO) and 7 June (CEF and ANS) 2017.



**Panel members:** Gabriele Aquilina, Giovanna Azimonti, Vasileios Bampidis, Maria de Lourdes Bastos, Georges Bories, Andrew Chesson, Pier Sandro Cocconcelli, Gerhard Flachowsky, Jürgen Gropp, Boris Kolar, Maryline Kouba, Secundino López Puente, Marta López-Alonso, Alberto Mantovani, Baltasar Mayo, Fernando Ramos, Guido Rychen, Maria Saarela, Roberto Edoardo Villa, Robert John Wallace and Pieter Wester.

**Acknowledgements:** The Panel wishes to thank the members of the Working Group on Genetically Modified Microorganisms: Juan Antonio Gabaldón and Christoph Tebbe for the preparatory work on this scientific output.

**Note:** The type of output indicated in the document has been modified from 'Scientific Opinion' to 'Guidance'. To avoid confusion, the original version of the Guidance has been removed from the EFSA Journal, but is available on request, as is a version showing all the changes made.

**Suggested citation:** EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), Rychen G, Aquilina G, Azimonti G, Bampidis V, Bastos ML, Bories G, Chesson A, Cocconcelli PS, Flachowsky G, Gropp J, Kolar B, Kouba M, López-Alonso M, López Puente S, Mantovani A, Mayo B, Ramos F, Saarela M, Villa RE, Wallace RJ, Wester P, Glandorf B, Herman L, Kärenlampi S, Aguilera J, Anguita M, Brozzi R and Galobart J, 2018. Guidance on the characterisation of microorganisms used as feed additives or as production organisms. EFSA Journal 2018;16(3):5206, 24 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5206

#### **ISSN:** 1831-4732

© 2018 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and no modifications or adaptations are made.



The EFSA Journal is a publication of the European Food Safety Authority, an agency of the European Union.





# **Table of contents**

| Abstract   |   |    |  |  |  |
|--|---|----|--|--|--|
| Background and Terms of Reference as provided by EFSA  |   |    |  |  |  |
| Scope  |   |    |  |  |  |
| 1.   | Assessment  |    |  |  |  |
| 2.   | Characterisation of the microorganism                               | 5  |  |  |  |
| 2.1.   | Identification  | 5  |  |  |  |
| 2.1.1.   | Use of whole genome sequence for characterisation of microorganisms | 6  |  |  |  |
| 2.2.   | Antimicrobial susceptibility  | 7  |  |  |  |
| 2.2.1.   | Phenotypic testing  |    |  |  |  |
| 2.2.2.   | WGS search for AMR genes  | 9  |  |  |  |
| 2.2.3.   | Interpretation of the results from Sections 2.2.1 and 2.2.2.        | 9  |  |  |  |
| 2.3.   | Antimicrobial production  | 9  |  |  |  |
| 2.4.   | Toxigenicity and pathogenicity                                      |    |  |  |  |
| 2.4.1.   | Bacteria  |    |  |  |  |
| 2.4.1.1.   | Enterococcus faecium  | 10 |  |  |  |
| 2.4.1.2.   | Bacillus spp  | 10 |  |  |  |
| 2.4.2.   | Eukaryotic microorganisms   |    |  |  |  |
| 2.5.   | Genetic modifications   | 11 |  |  |  |
| 2.5.1.   | Purpose of the genetic modification                                 | 11 |  |  |  |
| 2.5.2.   | Characteristics of the modified sequences                           | 11 |  |  |  |
| 2.5.3.   | Structure of the genetic modification                               |    |  |  |  |
| 2.5.3.1.   | Structure of the genetic modification using WGS data                |    |  |  |  |
|  | Structure of the genetic modification without WGS data              |    |  |  |  |
| 3.   | Fermentation products   |    |  |  |  |
| 3.1.   | Absence of the production strain                                    |    |  |  |  |
| 3.2.   | Presence of DNA from the production strain                          |    |  |  |  |
| 4.   | In vivo studies   |    |  |  |  |
| 4.1.   | Impact on gut microbiota  |    |  |  |  |
| 4.2.   | Compatibility with other additives showing antimicrobial activity   |    |  |  |  |
| 5.   | Outcomes  |    |  |  |  |
| 5.1.   | Feed additives containing viable microorganisms                     |    |  |  |  |
| 5.2.   | Feed additives produced by non-GM microorganisms                    |    |  |  |  |
| 5.3.   | Feed additives produced by GM microorganisms                        |    |  |  |  |
| Referen  | ces   |    |  |  |  |
| Glossary and Abbreviations   |   |    |  |  |  |
| Annex A – Recommended procedure for the detection of cytotoxicity in <i>Bacillus</i> species other than those of |   |    |  |  |  |
| the <i>B. cereus</i> group using epithelial cell lines   |   |    |  |  |  |
| Annex B – List of bibliographic references used to derive microbiological cut-off values                         |   |    |  |  |  |

# Background and Terms of Reference as provided by EFSA

Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003<sup>1</sup> establishes the rules governing the Community authorisation of additives for use in animal nutrition. Moreover, Regulation (EC) No 429/2008<sup>2</sup> provides detailed rules for the implementation of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 as regards the preparation and the presentation of applications and the assessment and the authorisation of feed additives.

The Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP Panel) has adopted a series of guidance documents which aim at complementing Regulation (EC) No 429/2008 to support applicants in the preparation and submission of technical dossiers for the authorisation of additives for use in animal nutrition according to Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003.

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) asked its FEEDAP Panel to:

- identify from the current guidance documents, those that need to be updated, taking into consideration the most recent scientific developments and the experience gained in the assessment of feed additives;
- update the guidance documents in need of revision accordingly; this activity can be conducted in different rounds of activities on the basis of the priorities identified and on the feasibility of the revision according the resources available;
- 3) develop a guidance document for the risk assessment of additives produced with genetically modified microorganisms;
- 4) taking into account the sensitivity and the relevance of some of the guidance documents under revision and the entity of the revision itself (e.g. substantial or not), consider initiatives like preparatory info-sessions or public consultations of the draft guidance documents. The relevant comments received in either step will have to be considered and addressed if appropriate in the final version of the guidance documents.

The first of the terms of reference was addressed by a statement of the FEEDAP Panel (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2016), in which it was identified the need to update most of the guidance documents that it produced and set priorities for this update.

This output addresses the second, third and fourth terms of reference with regard to the update of the guidance documents dealing with the characterisation and assessment of microorganisms used as feed additives or as production organisms (the last including genetically modified microorganisms).

This guidance document underwent a public consultation (EFSA, 2018).

#### Scope

This document provides guidance to assist in the preparation and presentation of applications to market feed additives containing microorganisms or produced with microorganisms by fermentation as foreseen in Article 7.6 of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 and as required in Section 2 of Annex II and the relevant sections of Annex III of Regulation (EC) No 429/2008.

This guidance is also applicable to feed additives produced from genetically modified microorganisms (GMMs) for which an authorisation under Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 is required.

For fermentation products, only those aspects directly linked to the production organism, including the safety aspects of the genetic modifications where relevant, are considered.

For the purpose of this guidance document, microorganisms covered include bacteria, yeasts and filamentous fungi. For other taxonomical groups (such as phages, *Archaea* or microalgae), the basic principles also apply on a case-by-case basis.

In case of applications for feed materials (biomass) made from GMMs, the basic principles described herein apply to the characterisation of the microorganism(s).

Feed additives in which viable GMMs are present, intentionally or unintentionally, are out of the scope of this document.

This guidance covers the characterisation of microbial strains which are the subject of applications for authorisation of feed additives containing or produced with microorganisms. For other elements of the assessment, applicants should refer to the other relevant FEEDAP guidance documents, e.g. Guidance on the identity, characterisation and conditions of use of feed additives (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2017a),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 September 2003 on additives for use in animal nutrition. OJ L 268, 18.10.2003, p. 29–43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Commission Regulation (EC) No 429/2008 of 25 April 2008 on detailed rules for the implementation of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards the preparation and the presentation of applications and the assessment and the authorisation of feed additives. OJ L 133, 22.5.2008, p. 1–65.

Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the target species (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2017b) and Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the consumer (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2017c).<sup>3</sup>

#### 1. Assessment

Based on the nature of the product and on the applicable regulatory requirements, two different types of feed additives are considered in this document:

- Feed additives containing viable microorganisms (active agents)
- Feed additives produced by GM or non-GM microorganisms (production strains).

A summary of the requirements for the characterisation of both types of additives is shown in Table 1.

|  | Section |                | containing viable<br>ganisms | Fermentation products |                |  |  |
|--|---------|----------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------|--|--|
|  |         | Bacteria       | Fungi – yeasts               | Bacteria              | Fungi – yeasts |  |  |
| Identification                                   | 2.1     | 1              | ~                            | ~                     |                |  |  |
| Antimicrobial<br>susceptibility                  | 2.2     | 100            |                              |                       |                |  |  |
| Antimicrobial production                         | 2.3     | 1              | 1                            | 1                     | 1              |  |  |
| Toxigenicity and<br>pathogenicity                | 2.4     | 100            | 1                            |                       |                |  |  |
| Genetic modification                             | 2.5     |                |                              | For GMMs only         | For GMMs only  |  |  |
| Absence of the production strain                 | 3.1     |                |                              |                       |                |  |  |
| Presence of DNA from<br>the production strain    | 3.2     |                |                              | Where relevant        | Where relevant |  |  |
| Compatibility with other<br>authorised additives | 4.2     | Where relevant | Where relevant               |                       |                |  |  |

Table 1: Requirements for scientific information according to the type of feed additive

GMM: genetically modified microorganism.

A specific approach to safety assessment applies to those species of microorganisms included in the list of Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) status recommended biological agents (EFSA, 2007).<sup>4</sup> QPS provides a generic approach to the safety assessment of microorganisms intentionally introduced into the food and feed chain. To justify that a microorganism is suitable for being evaluated according to the QPS approach, its taxonomic status should be unequivocally established, and be a species included in the QPS list. In addition, any qualification set in the most recent QPS statement/opinion should be complied with. Those strains qualifying for the QPS approach are presumed safe for target species, consumer and the environment without the need for specific studies.

The QPS concept applies to the two above categories. In the case of additives produced by GMMs for which the parental/recipient strain is considered by EFSA to qualify for the QPS approach to safety assessment, and for which the molecular characterisation of the event does not give rise to concern, the QPS concept can be extended to the GM production strain. Notwithstanding this, presence of DNA from the production strain must be assessed in all products made with GMMs (Section 3.2).

# 2. Characterisation of the microorganism

#### 2.1. Identification

The following taxonomic information needs to be provided for the microorganism: genus, species and strain name or code. For bacteria, taxonomy and nomenclature are maintained at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Further guidance documents on safety for the user/worker and safety for the environment are under preparation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The list of QPS status recommended biological agents for safety risk assessments carried out by EFSA is regularly updated and published at: http://efsa.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/hub/issue/10.1002/(ISSN)1831-4732.QPS/

International Committee on Systematics of Prokaryotes<sup>5</sup> and covered by the International Code of Nomenclature of Prokaryotes (Parker et al., 2015). The nomenclature and taxonomy of fungi are covered by the International Code of Nomenclature for algae, fungi, and plants (ICN) (McNeill et al., 2012<sup>6</sup>). The currently approved nomenclature for fungi can be found on the MycoBank database.<sup>7</sup>

The organism under assessment should be deposited in an internationally recognised culture collection having acquired the status of International Depositary Authority under the Budapest Treaty (preferably in the European Union (EU)) and maintained by the culture collection for the authorised period of the additive. A valid certificate of deposition from the collection, which shall specify the accession number under which the strain is held, must be provided.

The organism under assessment should be identified unambiguously at species level based on upto-date methodologies and current knowledge.

- Bacteria: Whole genome sequence (WGS) analysis is required for the characterisation of bacteria (Section 2.1.1). Therefore, data from WGS should be used for identification of the microorganism. This can be achieved by computational approach for taxonomic assignments (e.g. phylogenomics or average nucleotide identity (ANI)), or by comparing the sequences commonly used for taxonomic identification (e.g. 16S rRNA gene), or other characteristic genes (e.g. housekeeping genes) to relevant databases.
- Yeasts: As for bacteria, WGS is also required for the characterisation of yeasts (Section 2.1.1). Therefore, data from WGS analysis should be used for identification of the microorganism. This should be done by phylogenomic analysis (e.g. using a concatenation of several conserved genes to produce a phylogeny against available related genomes).
- Filamentous fungi: When WGS is available, identification should be made by a phylogenomic analysis comparing the genome against available related genomes. If no WGS is available, identification should be made by comparing the 18S rRNA gene and/or ITS regions and other characteristic genes (e.g. tubulin) with sequences deposited in databases.

In the case that the data do not allow the assignment of the strain under assessment to a known microbial species, its phylogenetic position with respect to the closest relatives should be provided.

The origin of the organism and history of modifications, including mutagenesis steps performed during the development of the strain, shall be reported. Any genetic modification shall be characterised according to Section 2.5.

#### 2.1.1. Use of whole genome sequence for characterisation of microorganisms

Whole genome sequence analysis (including chromosome(s) and extra-chromosomal genetic elements, e.g. plasmids) is required for bacterial and yeast strains intended for use either as products or production strains. WGS analysis is also recommended for filamentous fungi. WGS data provide information for the unequivocal taxonomic identification of the strain, as well as for the characterisation of the strains regarding their potential functional traits of concern (e.g. virulence factors, production of or resistance to antimicrobials of clinical relevance, production of known toxic metabolites).

The minimum set of information includes:

- the DNA extraction method;
- the sequencing strategy and instrumentation used;
- the assembly method applied (e.g. the bioinformatic approach, *de novo* or re-seq strategy);
- the statistical measure of sequence quality (e.g. average Phred score, number of reads, coverage, N50 and K-mer);
- the FASTA file(s) of the WGS;
- the total length of contigs relative to the expected genome size;
- the annotation protocol used;
- for fungi: information on the quality of the annotations obtained from relevant databases (e.g. BUSCO<sup>8</sup>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> http://www.the-icsp.org/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> http://www.iapt-taxon.org/nomen/main.php

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> http://www.mycobank.org

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> http://busco.ezlab.org

# 2.2. Antimicrobial susceptibility

This section is applicable to bacteria intended for use as viable cells in feed additives and used as production organisms.

Microbial feed additives should not add to the pool of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) genes already present in the gut bacterial population or otherwise increase the spread of AMR. Antimicrobials considered are those relevant to their use in humans and animals (critically important antimicrobials (CIAs) or highly important antimicrobials (HIAs), last revision WHO, 2016).

When resistance to an antimicrobial is inherent to a bacterial species, it is generally referred to as 'intrinsic resistance' and is typical of all the strains of that species. Intrinsic AMR is not considered a safety concern. In contrast, when a strain of a typically susceptible species is resistant to a given antimicrobial drug, it is considered to be 'acquired resistance', which requires further investigation.

For this, two sets of data should be provided:

- Phenotypic testing based on determination of a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) for a selected group of antimicrobials.
- A search of the WGS for the presence of known AMR genes.

#### 2.2.1. Phenotypic testing

It is essential that such tests are made in a consistent manner using internationally recognised and standardised methods. As a basic requirement, the MICs (expressed as mg/L or  $\mu$ g/mL) should be determined for the antimicrobials listed in Table 2. These antimicrobials are chosen to detect a wide range of resistance determinants. The cut-off values provided should be seen as a pragmatic tool intended to distinguish strains with acquired resistance from susceptible strains. The cut-off values given in Table 2 were derived from the references listed in Annex B. For bacteria not listed in Table 2, the antimicrobials tested should be those for *Corynebacterium* and other Gram-positive (for Gram-positive) or for Enterobacteriaceae (for Gram-negative) as listed in Table 2. Resulting MIC values should be compared with published values for that specific or related species and/or those generated in house.

MICs should be determined using serial twofold dilution procedures in agar or broth, including relevant quality control strains. The tests should be performed according to internationally recognised standards such as the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST<sup>9</sup>), the Clinical and Laboratory Standard Institute (CLSI<sup>10</sup>), ISO standard or similar. After incubation, the MIC is defined as the lowest concentration of the antimicrobial that inhibits bacterial growth. Qualitative or semi-quantitative methods to determine MIC indirectly, such as diffusion methods, are not acceptable except in specific and justified circumstances (e.g. when the antimicrobial is not otherwise available).

The culture medium should allow growth of the strain under assessment. Whenever possible, dedicated media to survey antimicrobial resistance/susceptibility profiles (e.g. Muelle–Hinton or IsoSensitest) should be used. However, for specific bacterial species or strains, other formulations (such as LAB susceptibility test medium (LSM) for some lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria species (Klare et al., 2005)) might be required. Potential interference by medium components (e.g. *p*-aminobenzoic acid, thymidine, glycine, divalent cations), test type (broth microdilution vs agar dilution), and culture conditions (pH, temperature, time of incubation) on the susceptibility levels to some antimicrobials should be taken into account.

For the purpose of distinguishing resistant from susceptible strains, the FEEDAP Panel has defined microbiological cut-off values based on published data. On this basis, strains can be categorised as:

- susceptible when its growth is inhibited at a concentration of a specific antimicrobial equal to or lower than the established cut-off value (S  $\leq \times$  mg/L).
- resistant when it is able to grow at a concentration of a specific antimicrobial higher than the established cut-off value (R >  $\times$  mg/L).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> http://www.eucast.org

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> http://www.clsi.org



# Table 2: Microbiological cut-off values (mg/L)

|   | Ampicillin | Vancomycin | Gentamicin | Kanamycin | Streptomycin | Erythromycin | Clindamycin | Tetracycline     | Chloramphenicol | Tylosin | Ciprofloxacin | Colistin | Fosfomycin |
|---|------------|------------|------------|-----------|--------------|--------------|-------------|------------------|-----------------|---------|---------------|----------|------------|
| Lactobacillus obligate homofermentative <sup>(a)</sup>      | 2          | 2          | 16         | 16        | 16           | 1            | 4           | 4                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Lactobacillus acidophilus group                             | 1          | 2          | 16         | 64        | 16           | 1            | 4           | 4                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Lactobacillus obligate heterofermentative <sup>(b)</sup>    | 2          | n.r.       | 16         | 64        | 64           | 1            | 4           | 8 <sup>(c)</sup> | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Lactobacillus reuteri                                       | 2          | n.r.       | 8          | 64        | 64           | 1            | 4           | 32               | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Lactobacillus facultative heterofermentative <sup>(d)</sup> | 4          | n.r.       | 16         | 64        | 64           | 1            | 4           | 8                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Lactobacillus plantarum/pentosus                            | 2          | n.r.       | 16         | 64        | n.r.         | 1            | 4           | 32               | 8               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Lactobacillus rhamnosus                                     | 4          | n.r.       | 16         | 64        | 32           | 1            | 4           | 8                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Lactobacillus casei/paracasei                               | 4          | n.r.       | 32         | 64        | 64           | 1            | 4           | 4                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Bifidobacterium   | 2          | 2          | 64         | n.r.      | 128          | 1            | 1           | 8                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Pediococcus   | 4          | n.r.       | 16         | 64        | 64           | 1            | 1           | 8                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Leuconostoc   | 2          | n.r.       | 16         | 16        | 64           | 1            | 1           | 8                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Lactococcus lactis  | 2          | 4          | 32         | 64        | 32           | 1            | 1           | 4                | 8               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Streptococcus thermophilus                                  | 2          | 4          | 32         | n.r.      | 64           | 2            | 2           | 4                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Bacillus  | n.r.       | 4          | 4          | 8         | 8            | 4            | 4           | 8                | 8               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Propionibacterium   | 2          | 4          | 64         | 64        | 64           | 0.5          | 0.25        | 2                | 2               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Enterococcus faecium  | 2          | 4          | 32         | 1,024     | 128          | 4            | 4           | 4                | 16              | 4       | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Corynebacterium and other Gram-positive                     | 1          | 4          | 4          | 16        | 8            | 1            | 4           | 2                | 4               | n.r.    | n.r.          | n.r.     | n.r.       |
| Enterobacteriaceae  | 8          | n.r.       | 2          | 8         | 16           | n.r.         | n.r.        | 8                | n.r.            | n.r.    | 0.06          | 2        | 8          |

n.r.: not required.

(a): Including *L. delbrueckii, L. helveticus*.

(b): Including *L. fermentum*.

(c): For *L. buchneri* the cut-off for tetracycline is 128.(d): Including the homofermentative species *L. salivarius*.

#### 2.2.2. WGS search for AMR genes

WGS should be interrogated for the presence of genes coding for or contributing to resistance to antimicrobials relevant to their use in humans and animals (CIAs or HIAs). For this purpose, a comparison against up-to-date databases should be performed (e.g. CARD,<sup>11</sup> ARG-ANNOT,<sup>12</sup> ResFinder<sup>13</sup>). The outcome of the analysis should be presented as a table focusing on complete genes coding for resistance to antimicrobials. The table should include at least the gene identification, function of the encoded protein, percentage of identity and e-value.

#### 2.2.3. Interpretation of the results from Sections 2.2.1 and 2.2.2

The detection of the MIC above the cut-off values proposed by the FEEDAP Panel for one or more antimicrobials requires further investigation using genomic data to determine the nature of the resistance:

- If no known AMR gene is identified that can be linked to the phenotype, no further studies are required.
- If the phenotypic resistance can be directly related to the presence of a known AMR gene, this is considered as a hazard.

In all cases, if the genetic analysis reveals AMR genes for antimicrobials considered to be CIAs or HIAs (WHO, 2016), the MIC values should be determined and compared with values in the literature:

- If MIC < (reference values), the likelihood of the AMR gene to become active should be assessed (e.g. based on sequence comparison with active genes).
- If MIC > (reference values), this is considered as a hazard.

#### 2.3. Antimicrobial production

Unless the strain qualifies for the QPS approach or belongs to a taxonomic unit known not to produce antimicrobials relevant to use in humans and animals, tests should be made to assess the inhibitory activity of culture supernatants against reference strains known to be susceptible to a range of antibiotics (e.g. *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ATCC 27853, *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 25923, *Enterococcus faecalis* ATCC 29212 and *Bacillus subtilis* ATCC 6633 or other reference strains, EUCAST, 2015; FAO, 2006). If there is a positive outcome in one or more species, the inhibitory substance should be identified.

For those production strains for which antimicrobial activity has been identified, the absence of carry over into the final product should be demonstrated. The exact phase of the manufacturing process from which the samples are taken should be indicated. Samples should be taken from industrial scale process. Samples from pilot scale process may be acceptable if those from industrial process are not yet available.

For ionophoric coccidiostats produced from species known to produce other antimicrobials of clinical relevance (WHO, 2016), the presence of antimicrobial activity not related to the ionophore in the fermentation/final product should be investigated, e.g. by comparing the inhibitory spectrum of the pure ionophore with that of the additive. The strains described above can be used for this purpose.

Applicants should declare whether any antimicrobial(s) of clinical relevance are used during the manufacturing of the product.

#### 2.4. Toxigenicity and pathogenicity

Information relating to toxigenicity and virulence for humans and target species should be provided for active agents and production strains, including history of use of the strain or any close relative. This should be based on updated literature searches (according to the provisions from the Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the target species).

Any strain development step (including mutagenesis and/or genetic modifications) aimed to reduce the toxigenicity and/or pathogenicity of the strain used should be clearly documented.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> https://card.mcmaster.ca/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> http://en.mediterranee-infection.com/article.php?laref=283%26titre=arg-annot

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> https://cge.cbs.dtu.dk/services/ResFinder/

#### 2.4.1. Bacteria

For bacterial strains belonging to a species not included in the QPS list, WGS analysis should be used to identify genes coding for known virulence factors. For this purpose, comparison against specific up-to-date databases (e.g. VFDB,<sup>14</sup> PAI DB,<sup>15</sup> MvirDB,<sup>16</sup> CGE<sup>17</sup>) should be performed. The outcome of the analysis should be presented as a table focusing on complete genes encoding recognised virulence factors (e.g. toxins, invasion and adhesion factors) known to exist in the species or related species to which the strain belongs. The table should include at least the gene identification, function of the encoded protein, percentage of identity and e-value. The presence of genes encoding virulence factors may trigger further phenotypic testing (e.g. cytotoxicity tests).

For viable microorganisms in which pathogenicity cannot be excluded by the information from the literature search and by interrogating the WGS, further studies (e.g. tolerance studies according to the Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the target species, toxicological studies according to the Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the consumer) may be required.

Exceptions to the above requirements are:

- strains which qualify for the QPS approach to safety assessment;
- Other strains for which safety can be established by specific tests (e.g. *Enterococcus faecium* and *Bacillus* species, Sections 2.4.1.1 and 2.4.1.2).

#### 2.4.1.1. Enterococcus faecium

*Enterococcus faecium* consists of two distinct subpopulations or clades. One subpopulation consists predominantly of isolates from the faeces of healthy individuals, and is characterised by susceptibility to ampicillin. The other subpopulation, which contains most of the clinical isolates, shows resistance to ampicillin. The virulence factors and markers IS16, *hyl*Efm, and *esp* are also considered relevant for the assessment of safety.

The MIC for ampicillin should be determined:

- If the MIC > 2 mg/L, the strain is not considered safe.
- If the MIC  $\leq$  2 mg/L, the absence of the genetic elements IS16, *hy*/Efm, and *esp* should be investigated by interrogating the genome sequence.

If none of the three genetic elements are detected, then the strain is considered safe. If one or more of the three genetic elements are detected, then the strain is considered hazardous.

#### 2.4.1.2. Bacillus spp.

For *Bacillus* species other than the *Bacillus cereus* group, a cytotoxicity test should be made to determine whether the strain produces high levels of non-ribosomal synthesised peptides, as one of the qualifications of the QPS approach. In the absence of animal models shown to be able to distinguish hazardous from non-hazardous strains, the FEEDAP Panel relies on the use of *in vitro* cell-based methods to detect evidence of a cytotoxic effect (see Annex A). Such tests should be made with culture supernatants since the concentration of cells obtained in a broth culture would always exceed that found in animal food products. In addition, they should be made preferably with Vero cells or other epithelial cell lines using culture supernatant following the protocol described by Lindbäck and Granum (2005). Detection based on <sup>14</sup>C-leucine uptake is described, but other methods such as those based on lactate dehydrogenase release or propidium iodide uptake could be used alternatively (Fagerlund et al., 2008).

The selection of strains belonging to the *B. cereus* taxonomic group, for direct use in animal production or as production strains, is considered unadvisable. If, however, they are proposed for use, a bioinformatic analysis should be made of the WGS for genes encoding enterotoxins (*nhe, hbl* and *cytK*) and cereulide synthase (*ces*). If there is evidence for similarity, the non-functionality of the genes should be demonstrated. Strains with toxigenic potential are not considered safe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> http://www.mgc.ac.cn/VFs/main.htm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> http://www.paidb.re.kr/about\_paidb.php

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> http://mvirdb.llnl.gov

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> http://www.genomicepidemiology.org/

#### 2.4.2. Eukaryotic microorganisms

For eukaryotic microorganisms, their potential pathogenicity or ability to produce metabolites that could be harmful to humans and/or animals should be assessed. A literature search should be carried out to identify the capacity of the species or a closely related species to produce known toxic compounds (following the principles of Section 3 of the Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the target species). Further information on known toxic secondary metabolites potentially produced by several microbial species can be found in scientific publications such as AINIA Technology Centre (2017). When WGS is available, targeted searches can be performed to identify the presence/absence of known metabolic pathways involved in toxigenicity.

Where known compounds are identified, analyses should be made to exclude their presence or demonstrate that their concentration in the additive is not of concern.

#### 2.5. Genetic modifications

If the strain is genetically modified according to the definition in Directive 2001/18/EC<sup>18</sup>, the genetic modification should be described.

#### 2.5.1. Purpose of the genetic modification

The purpose of the genetic modification should be described. A description of the traits and changes in the phenotype and metabolism of the microorganism resulting from the genetic modification is required.

#### 2.5.2. Characteristics of the modified sequences

#### **Inserted sequences**

The sequences inserted in the GMM can be derived from defined organisms or may be designed. When the inserted DNA is a combination of sequences from different origins, the pertinent information for each of the sequences should be provided.

The following information should be provided:

#### DNA from defined donor organisms

The taxonomic affiliation (genus and species) of the donor organism(s) should be provided. In case of sequences obtained from environmental samples, the closest orthologous gene(s) should be indicated. The description of the inserted sequence(s) should include:

- nucleotide sequence of all inserted elements including a functional annotation and the physical map of all the functional elements;
- structure and function of the inserted elements, including coding and non-coding regions;
- name, derived amino acid sequence(s) and function(s) of the encoded protein(s). When available, EC number of the encoded enzymes.

#### Designed sequences

Designed sequences are those not known to occur in nature (e.g. codon-optimised genes, rationally designed chimeric/synthetic genes or genes harbouring chimeric sequences). In such cases, information should be provided on:

- rationale and strategy for the design;
- DNA sequence and a physical map of the functional elements;
- derived amino acid sequence(s) and function(s) of the encoded protein(s);
- similarity with sequences in up-to-date databases (e.g. ENA,<sup>19</sup> NCBI,<sup>20</sup> UniProt<sup>21</sup>). This should identify the functional domains of the recombinant protein; the best hits should be reported and described.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Article 2(2) of Directive 2001/18/EC on the deliberate release into the environment of genetically modified organisms defines 'genetically modified organism' as an organism, with the exception of human beings, in which the genetic material has been altered in a way that does not occur naturally by mating and/or natural recombination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> http://www.ebi.ac.uk/ena

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> http://www.uniprot.org/



#### Deletions

A description of the intentionally deleted sequence(s) should be provided, together with an explanation of the intended effect.

#### Base pair substitutions and frameshift mutations

Intentionally introduced base pair substitutions and/or frameshift mutations should be indicated, together with an explanation of their expected effect.

#### 2.5.3. Structure of the genetic modification

The characterisation of the structure of the genetic modification should be done using WGS data for bacteria and yeasts, and is recommended for filamentous fungi.

#### 2.5.3.1. Structure of the genetic modification using WGS data

Detailed information should be provided, including a map or graphic presentation of all genomic regions (chromosome, contig or plasmid) harbouring genetic modifications, indicating:

- the open reading frames (ORF) actually inserted, modified or deleted. For each ORF, the gene products should be described in detail (at least the amino acid sequence, the function, metabolic role). Introduced genes of concern should be highlighted. Genes of concern are those known to contribute to the production of toxic metabolites and antimicrobials of clinical relevance or to AMR;
- the non-coding sequence(s) inserted/deleted/modified. The role and function of these sequences (e.g. promoters, terminators) should be indicated.

This can be done preferably by comparing the WGS of the GMM with that of the non-modified parental or recipient strain.

The sequences/databases and the methodology used for analyses and comparison should be described in detail.

#### 2.5.3.2. Structure of the genetic modification without WGS data

For filamentous fungi for which WGS is not available, all the steps to obtain the genetic modification should be described. The information provided should allow for the identification of all genetic material potentially introduced into the recipient/parental microorganism.

#### Characteristics of the vector

The description of the vector(s) used for the development of the GMM should include:

- the source and type (plasmid, phage, virus, transposon) of the vector. When helper plasmids are used, they should also be described;
- a map detailing the position of all functional elements and other vector components;
- the map should accompany a table identifying each component, properly annotated, such as coding and non-coding sequences, origin(s) of replication and transfer, regulatory elements, AMR genes, their size, origin and role.

#### Information relating to the genetic modification process

The genetic modification process should be described in detail. This should include:

- methods used to introduce, delete, replace or modify the DNA into the recipient/parental, and methods for selection of the GMM;
- it should be indicated whether the introduced DNA remains in the vector or is inserted into the chromosome(s) and/or, for eukaryotic microorganisms, into DNA of organelles (e.g. mitochondria) if appropriate.

#### Structure of any vector and/or donor nucleic acid remaining in the GMM

- a map detailing the position of the sequences actually inserted, replaced or modified;
- in the case of deletion(s), the size and function of the deleted region(s) must be provided.



#### Genes of concern

Any genes of concern as defined in Section 2.5.3.1 (such as genes encoding AMR, toxins and virulence factors) inserted in the GMM shall be clearly indicated.

The absence of any sequence of concern (such as AMR genes) not intended to be present in the GMM should be tested experimentally. This includes:

- sequences used transiently during the genetic modification process including vectors and helper plasmids;
- sequences in plasmids/replicons from which a fragment was derived and used for transformation.

This should be analysed by using appropriate methods, such as Southern analysis or polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

- Southern blots shall include appropriate positive and negative controls. The length and location
  of the probe(s) used should be indicated. The amount of DNA loaded in the agarose gel
  should be provided, together with an image of the gel before blotting. Positive control shall be
  loaded in a concentration corresponding to 1–10 copies of the target fragment per genome of
  the production strain. If several probes are used, they shall be tested in separate experiments.
- PCR experiments shall include a positive control containing the same gene as that used during strain development, together with proper positive controls to exclude PCR inhibition and to ensure sufficient sensitivity. A negative control should also be included.

#### **3.** Fermentation products

This section refers to the characterisation of the feed additives obtained by fermentation of a production strain and covers the safety aspects directly linked to the production strain. For products for which more than one production strain is involved, data should be provided for each of them. For other aspects of the product characterisation, the applicant should follow the Guidance on the identity, characterisation and conditions of use of feed additives.

#### **3.1.** Absence of the production strain

The techniques used to remove/inactivate microbial cells in the course of the downstream processing should be described in detail. The absence of viable cells of the production strain should be investigated using a well-described method for the detection:

- by means of a culture-based method targeted to the detection of the viable cell. Cultivationindependent methods are not acceptable;
- the procedure should enable the recovery of stressed cells by cultivation in or onto media with a minimal selective pressure and/or by providing a longer (at least two times) incubation time compared to the normal culturing time;
- the detection should also consider specificity against contaminating microbiota possibly occurring in the sample in case it interferes with the detection of the production strain;
- if the strain is able to form endospores, their possible presence should be analysed by using germination procedures (e.g. thermal treatment for bacteria) adapted to the organisms, and subsequent culturing;
- the absence should be demonstrated in a volume corresponding to at least 1 g or mL of product, obtained from a sample of at least 10 g or mL of product (e.g. 10 g of product diluted in 90 mL, 10 mL analysed);
- at least nine samples obtained from a minimum of three independent batches of product should be analysed. The exact phase of the manufacturing process from which the samples are taken should be indicated. Samples should be taken from industrial scale process. Samples from pilot scale process are acceptable if it can be justified that those from industrial process are not available. In this case, it should be documented that the pilot scale process (fermentation and downstream) is representative of the industrial scale process;
- a positive control with samples spiked with low counts (e.g. 10–1,000 cells per plate) of viable cells of the production strain should be included to prove that the medium and cultivation conditions enable growth of any possible viable cells remaining in the product;

• when the additive has several formulations obtained in the same production scheme, at least the intermediate product obtained upstream in the process should be analysed. For different production schemes, each of the formulations/products of the additive should be tested.

# **3.2.** Presence of DNA from the production strain

This section applies to:

- products obtained using genetically modified production strains. The possible presence of DNA from the production strain in the product should be determined in compliance with regulatory requirements;
- products obtained using non-genetically modified production strains carrying acquired AMR genes.

The presence of DNA from the production strain should be tested in the product by PCR, targeting a fragment specific for this strain. Detailed information should be provided on the specific target sequence, primers and polymerase used and amplification conditions:

- In case the production strain contains AMR genes, whether GMM or not, primers should be designed to amplify a fragment not exceeding the size of the smallest antimicrobial resistance gene. If the production strain is a GMM not containing AMR genes, the targeted sequence should cover maximum 1 Kb.
- DNA from at least 1 g or 1 mL of product shall be extracted. Upstream intermediate products can be used as long as they are equally or more concentrated than the final product. For products with different formulations, the most concentrated one should be tested. For different production schemes, each of the formulations/products should be tested.
- At least three independent batches of product should be sampled, each analysed in triplicate. The exact phase of the manufacturing process from which the samples are taken should be indicated. Samples should be taken from industrial scale process. Samples from pilot scale process are acceptable if it can be demonstrated that those from industrial process are not available. In this case, it should be documented that the pilot scale process (fermentation and downstream) is representative of the industrial scale process.
- To recover DNA from non-viable cells potentially remaining in the product, the DNA should be extracted using a methodology suitable for all cellular forms of the production strain (e.g. vegetative cells, spores).
- The following controls and sensitivity tests should be included:
  - a) total DNA from the production strain, as a positive control for the PCR;
  - b) total DNA from the production strain, added to the product sample before the DNA extraction process, starting with a known quantity and in different dilutions until DNA extinction, to calculate the limit of detection;
  - c) a positive control with total DNA from the production strain, added to the DNA extracted from each of the three batches of the product tested, to check for any factors causing PCR failure;
  - d) a negative control without sample.
- If PCR failure is encountered, the causes should be investigated (e.g. PCR inhibition, presence of nucleases)

For the purpose of this assessment, the applicant should investigate whether the target DNA is detected in analyses having detection threshold of 10 ng of DNA per gram or mL of product or lower.

# 4. *In vivo* microbial studies

#### 4.1. Impact on gut microbiota

For the purpose of this guidance, the impact on gut microbiota is assessed by examining whether the use of the additive results in an overgrowth or shedding of potentially pathogenic microorganisms. This is required for those additives:

 that in the tolerance test give an indication of an adverse effect related to digestive tract disturbances;



- in which an adverse effect on the gut microbiota can otherwise be anticipated;
- which are ionophoric coccidiostats;
- which are specifically designed to reduce numbers of enteropathogens and potential for carcass/product contamination.

The impact of an additive on zoonotic agents can be studied in target animals naturally colonised with the enteropathogen(s) under investigation or with animals deliberately inoculated. In the latter case, consideration should be given to the pathogenic strain(s) selected (e.g. strains/serotypes specific to the target animal, use of multiple strains/serotypes, challenge dose). Shedding should be monitored with methods sensitive enough to identify the target pathogen(s).

#### 4.2. Compatibility with other additives showing antimicrobial activity

The combination of a microbial additive with a second additive should not adversely affect the viability of the microbial cells.

In dry feed, it is generally assumed that no interaction between the two additives occurs and therefore no effects on compatibility are expected.

When interaction is possible (e.g. both additives administered in water or in wet or liquid feeding), viability (i.e. microbial counts at time zero and after the expected time for which additives are in contact) should be investigated reflecting the conditions of practical use, particularly the duration for which the additives remain in contact. For more information on the conditions of use, see the Guida nce on the identity, characterisation and conditions of use of feed additives.

To demonstrate compatibility under those circumstances, two treatments should be used – the microbial additive and the microbial additive plus the product with antimicrobial activity – and microbial cell numbers measured. Studies should be designed using the lowest proposed dose of the microbial additive and the maximum proposed dose of the product showing antimicrobial activity.

For products containing multiple microbial strains, the viability should be separately assessed for each strain.

#### In vitro *studies*

The purpose of the *in vitro* studies is to establish whether the viability of the microbial additive is likely to be affected at the probable concentration of the antimicrobial additive in the digestive tract, and consequently whether *in vivo* studies are necessary. This is done by determining the MIC of the antimicrobial additive.

The MIC should be determined according to Section 2.2.1. In case of microorganisms producing spores, the MIC should be calculated with vegetative cells.

For products composed by multiple microbial strains, the MIC should be determined for each individual strain and the results interpreted in terms of the most sensitive component.

If the MIC is greater than four times the maximum concentration of the antimicrobial in feed/water, compatibility is assumed and no *in vivo* tests are required.

If the MIC is equal to or below four times the maximum concentration of the antimicrobial in feed/ water, incompatibility cannot be excluded and should be assessed *in vivo*.

#### In vivo compatibility studies in target species

To demonstrate compatibility *in vivo*, one short-term experiment<sup>22</sup> comparing two treatments (microbial additive and microbial additive plus product with antimicrobial activity) should be performed. Studies should be designed using the lowest proposed dose of the microbial additive and the maximum proposed dose of the product showing antimicrobial activity. The trials should be conducted ensuring that the health of animals and the husbandry conditions (e.g. veterinary intervention) do not adversely affect the interpretation of the results. Care should be taken to avoid cross-contamination of feed, and this should be demonstrated experimentally. The experimental design should have adequate statistical power.

Compatibility should be determined by analysing viable cell numbers of the strain(s) under assessment in gastrointestinal contents (faecal, ileal or caecal). Cultivation-independent methods are not acceptable. To avoid the possible interference of the animal's gut microbiota in the determination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Short-term experiments are defined as studies with duration shorter than the minimum duration of long-term studies according to the FEEDAP Guidance on efficacy (under preparation).

of cell counts, recognition of the active agent at strain level should be achieved. For products composed of multiple microbial strains, each strain should be individually enumerated.

In the case of *Bacillus* and other spore formers, both vegetative cells and spores should be enumerated.

Compatibility is demonstrated between the two groups if the gastrointestinal counts of vegetative cells (and spores when present) are similar (within 0.5 log order). The variability of the experimental set up should be taken into account.

In the absence of estimates of microbial numbers, performance data alone are not considered sufficient to establish compatibility.

#### 5. Outcomes

The following sections refer to the outcome of the assessment of those elements referring to the microorganism (active agent or production strain) only. Further aspects of the safety of the product for target species,<sup>23</sup> consumers,<sup>24</sup> users and the environment should be separately considered, as appropriate.<sup>25</sup>

#### 5.1. Feed additives containing viable microorganisms

For those strains qualifying for the QPS approach to safety assessment, no hazards and therefore no risks are identified for target species, consumers and the environment. User safety should be assessed in all cases according to the relevant guidance.<sup>25</sup>

For other microbial strains:

- bacterial strains carrying acquired genes that confer resistance to relevant antimicrobial(s) are considered to represent a risk for target species and those exposed to the additive.
- pathogenic, virulent or toxigenic strains and those capable of producing relevant antimicrobials according to Section 2.3 are considered to represent a risk for susceptible target species and/ or those exposed to the additive.
- for bacterial strains free from acquired antibiotic resistance determinants, shown not to produce relevant antimicrobial substances according to Section 2.3 and shown to be non-pathogenic/ toxigenic, no hazards and therefore no risks are identified for target species, consumers and the environment. User safety should be assessed according to the relevant guidance.<sup>25</sup>
- for yeasts and filamentous fungal strains shown to be non-pathogenic/toxigenic, no hazards and therefore no risks are identified for target species, consumers and the environment. User safety should be assessed according to the relevant guidance.<sup>25</sup>

# 5.2. Feed additives produced by non-GM microorganisms

For those strains:

- qualifying for the QPS approach to safety assessment or
- free from antibiotic resistance determinants, shown not to produce relevant antimicrobial substances according to Section 2.3 and shown to be non-pathogenic/toxigenic,

no hazards and therefore no risks are expected to arise from the metabolism of the production strain itself. Further aspects of the safety of the product for target species,<sup>23</sup> consumers,<sup>24</sup> users and the environment<sup>25</sup> should be separately considered as appropriate.

For other microbial strains:

- bacterial strains carrying genes that confer resistance to relevant antimicrobial(s) are considered to represent a hazard. If the production strain carries acquired AMR genes, and if DNA fragments long enough to cover the corresponding complete genes are detected in the product, the product is considered to represent a risk for target species and those exposed to the additive. However, if the absence of DNA from the production strain can be shown in the additive, this is not considered a risk.
- products obtained by fermentation using strains which are toxigenic and/or able to produce antimicrobials of clinical relevance are considered to represent a risk for susceptible target

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the target species.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the consumer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Under preparation.



species and/or those exposed to the additive, unless absence of the relevant toxins and/or antimicrobials can be demonstrated in the final additive.

Further aspects of the safety of the product for target species,<sup>23</sup> consumers,<sup>24</sup> users and the environment<sup>25</sup> should be separately considered as appropriate.

#### 5.3. Feed additives produced by GM microorganisms

For genetically modified strains, the outcomes stated in Section 5.2 apply. In addition, for those GM strains:

- for which the recipient strain qualifies for the QPS approach to safety assessment or
- which are free from acquired AMR determinants and shown to be non-pathogenic/toxigenic,

and whose genetic modification does not introduce genes/changes of concern, no hazards and therefore no risks are expected to arise from the metabolism of the production strain itself. Further aspects of the safety of the product for target species,<sup>23</sup> consumers,<sup>24</sup> users and the environment<sup>25</sup> should be separately considered as appropriate.

#### References

- AINIA Technology Centre, de Benito A, Ibáñez C, Moncho W, Martínez D, Vettorazzi A and de López Cerain A, 2017. Database on the taxonomical characterisation and potential toxigenic capacities of microorganisms used for the industrial production of food enzymes and feed additives, which do not have a recommendation for Qualified Presumption of Safety. EFSA supporting publication 2017;14(7):EN-1274, 185 pp. https://doi.org/10. 2903/sp.efsa.2016.en-1274
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2007. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on a request from EFSA on the introduction of a Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) approach for assessment of selected microorganisms referred to EFSA. EFSA Journal 2007;5(12):587, 16 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2007.587
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2018. Outcome of the public consultation on the draft guidance on the characterisation of microorganisms used as feed additives or as production organisms. EFSA supporting publication 2018;15(3):EN-1389, 28 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/sp.efsa.2018.en-1389
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2016. Statement ofthe panel: Analysis of the need for an update of the guidance documents. EFSA Journal 2016;14(5):4473, 8 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4473
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on additives and products or substances used in animal feed), Rychen G, Aquilina G, Azimonti G, Bampidis V, Bastos ML, Bories G, Chesson A, Cocconcelli PS, Flachowsky G, Gropp J, Kolar B, Kouba M, López-Alonso M, López Puente S, Mantovani A, Mayo B, Ramos F, Saarela M, Villa RE, Wallace RJ, Wester P, Anguita M, Galobart J and Innocenti ML, 2017a. Guidance on the identity, characterisation and conditions of use of feed additives. EFSA Journal 2017;15(10):5023, 12 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa. 2017.5023
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on additives and products or substances used in animal feed), Rychen G, Aquilina G, Azimonti G, Bampidis V, Bastos ML, Bories G, Chesson A, Cocconcelli PS, Flachowsky G, Gropp J, Kolar B, Kouba M, López-Alonso M, López Puente S, Mantovani A, Mayo B, Ramos F, Saarela M, Villa RE, Wallace RJ, Wester P, Anguita M, Galobart J, Innocenti ML and Martino L, 2017b. Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the target species. EFSA Journal 2017;15(10):5021, 19 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa. 2017.5021
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), Rychen G, Aquilina G, Azimonti G, Bampidis V, Bastos ML, Bories G, Chesson A, Cocconcelli PS, Flachowsky G, Gropp J, Kolar B, Kouba M, López-Alonso M, López Puente S, Mantovani A, Mayo B, Ramos F, Saarela M, Villa RE, Wallace RJ, Wester P, Anguita M, Dujardin B, Galobart J and Innocenti ML, 2017c. Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the consumer. EFSA Journal 2017;15(10):5022, 17 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.5022
- EUCAST (European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing), 2015. The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. Routine and extended internal quality control as recommended by EUCAST. Version 5.0, 2015. Available online: http://www.eucast.org
- Fagerlund A, Lindbäck T, Storset AK, Granum PE and Hardy SP, 2008. *Bacillus cereus* Nhe is a pore-forming toxin with structural and functional properties similar to the ClyA (HlyE, SheA) family of haemolysins, able to induce osmotic lysis in epithelia. Microbiology, 154, 1554.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations), 2006. Combined compendium of food additive specifications Vol. 4. Analytical methods, test procedures and laboratory solution used by and referenced in the food additive specifications. Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. FAO, Rome. ISBN 92-5-105569-6.

- Klare I, Konstable C, Mûller-Bertling S, Reissbrodt R, Huys G, Vancanneyt M, Swings J, Goossens H and Witte W, 2005. Evaluation of new broth media for microdilution antibiotic susceptibility testing of lactobacilli, pediococci, lactococci, and bifidobacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71, 8982–8986.
- Lindbäck T and Granum PE, 2005. Purification and detection of enterotoxins from *Bacillus cereus*. In: Adley CC (ed.). Methods in Biotechnology vol 21, Food-Borne Pathogens: methods and Protocols. Humana Press Inc, Totowa, NJ, USA. pp. 15–26.
- McNeill J, Barrie FR, Buck WR, Demoulin V, Greuter W, Hawksworth DL, Herendeen PS, Knapp S, Marhold K, Prado J, Prud'homme Van Reine WF, Smith GF, Wiersema JH and Turland NJ, eds. 2012. International Code of Nomenclature for algae, fungi, and plants (Melbourne Code). Regnum Vegetabile 154. Koeltz Scientific Books. ISBN 978-3-87429-425-6.
- Parker CT, Tindall BJ and Garrity GM, eds. 2015. International Code of Nomenclature of Prokaryotes. Prokaryotic Code (2008 Revision). International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. https://doi.org/10. 1099/ijsem.0.000778
- WHO (World Health Organisation), 2016. Critically important antimicrobials for human medicine 4th rev. WHO Press. ISBN 978 92 4 151146 9.

# **Glossary and Abbreviations**

| Acquired AMR gene    | A gene acquired by a bacterium conferring antimicrobial resistance to an otherwise typically susceptible microorganism  |
|----------------------|---|
| Active agent         | Any microorganism intended to be used as a feed additive or in the manufacture of a feed and that provides the intended effect.   |
| Antimicrobial        | An active substance of synthetic or natural origin which destroys microorganisms, suppresses their growth or their ability to reproduce in animals or humans, excluding antivirals and antiparasitic agents. For the purposes of this guidance, antimicrobials are those relevant to their use in humans and animals defined by the WHO as critically important antimicrobials (CIAs) or highly important antimicrobials (HIAs) |
| Dry feed             | Feed containing at least 88% dry matter   |
| Gene of concern      | Gene known to contribute to the production of toxic metabolites and<br>antimicrobials of clinical relevance, or to AMR. For products with viable<br>cells, other virulence factors are also included in this definition   |
| Genetically modified | (Micro)organisms in which the genetic material has been altered in a way  |
| organisms            | that does not occur naturally by mating and/or natural recombination  |
| Hazard               | A biological, chemical or physical agent in, or conditions of, food or feed with the potential to cause an adverse health effect <sup>26</sup>  |
| History of use       | Documented information on the microbial strain regarding its previous deliberate introduction or use in the food chain  |
| Microorganism        | Any microbiological entity, cellular or non-cellular, capable of multiplication<br>or of transferring genetic material, including viruses, viroids, animal and<br>plant cells in culture. For the purpose of this guidance document,<br>microorganisms cover bacteria, yeasts and filamentous fungi   |
| Parental strain      | A non-genetically modified microorganism with direct genealogical link to the GMM   |
| Recipient strain     | The strain that is subjected to genetic modifications which are subject of<br>the application. The recipient strain can be the parental or its derivative,<br>mutagenised or genetically modified. The recipient strain gives rise to the<br>GMM  |
| Recombinant DNA      | A form of DNA that is created by combining two or more sequences that would not normally occur together   |
| Recombinant gene     | A gene that is constructed from two or more sequences that would not normally occur together  |
| Risk                 | A function of the probability of an adverse health effect and the severity of that effect, consequential to a hazard <sup>26</sup>  |
| Vector               | Is understood as the agent containing the introduced DNA sequence used<br>as a vehicle to transfer such sequence into the transformed cell  |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> As defined in Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 laying down the general principles and requirements of food law, establishing the European Food Safety Authority and laying down procedures in matters of food safety.



| AMR    | antimicrobial resistance  |
|--------|---|
| ANI    | average nucleotide identity                                     |
| BHI    | brain heart infusion broth                                      |
| CFU    | colony forming unit   |
| CIA    | critically important antimicrobial                              |
| CLSI   | Clinical and Laboratory Standard Institute                      |
| EUCAST | European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing      |
| GM     | genetically modified  |
| GMM    | genetically modified microorganism                              |
| GMO    | genetically modified organism                                   |
| HIA    | highly important antimicrobial                                  |
| ICN    | International Code of Nomenclature for algae, fungi, and plants |
| ISO    | International Organization for Standardization                  |
| ITS    | internal transcribed spacer                                     |
| LAB    | lactic acid bacteria  |
| LSM    | LAB susceptibility test medium                                  |
| MEM    | Minimum Essential Medium  |
| MIC    | minimum inhibitory concentration                                |
| ORF    | open reading frames   |
| PCR    | polymerase chain reaction                                       |
| PI     | propidium iodide  |
| QPS    | Qualified Presumption of Safety                                 |
| TCA    | trichloroacetic acid  |
| WGS    | whole genome sequence   |

# Annex A – Recommended procedure for the detection of cytotoxicity in *Bacillus* species other than those of the *B. cereus* group using epithelial cell lines

#### Preparation of test substance

Bacterial cells should be grown in brain heart infusion broth (BHI) at 30°C and harvested after 6 h when it is anticipated that cells will have reached a density of at least  $10^8$  CFU/mL. Cells should be removed by centrifugation at room temperature. Toxicity is determined using 100  $\mu$ L of supernatant in the Vero cells assay.

#### Cell assay

Vero cells should be grown in Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) supplemented with 5% fetal calf serum. Cells should be seeded into 24-well plates 2–3 days before testing. Before use, it should be verified that growth of the Vero cells is confluent and if so, the medium should be removed and the cells washed once with 1 mL preheated ( $37^{\circ}$ C) MEM medium. Then the following steps should be followed:

- Add 1 mL preheated (37°C) low-leucine medium to each well and then add the toxin to be tested (100  $\mu$ L of non-concentrated supernatant), incubate the cells for 2 h at 37°C.
- Remove the low-leucine medium with the toxin, wash each well once with 1 mL preheated (37°C) low-leucine medium. Mix 8 mL preheated low-leucine with 16  $\mu$ L <sup>14</sup>C-leucine and add 300  $\mu$ L of this mixture to each well, incubate the cells for 1 h at 37°C.
- Remove the radioactive medium and add 1 mL 5% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) to each well, incubate at room temperature for 10 min. Remove the TCA, and wash the wells twice with 1 mL 5% TCA.
- After removing the TCA, add 300  $\mu L$  0.1 M KOH and incubate at room temperature for 10 min. Transfer the content of each well to liquid scintillation tubes with 2 mL liquid scintillation cocktail. Vortex the tubes, and count the radioactivity in a scintillation counter for 1 min.

Percentage inhibition of protein synthesis is calculated using the following formula: ((Neg. ctrl – sample)/Neg. ctrl)  $\times$  100; the negative control is Vero cells from wells without addition of sample. Above 20% inhibition is considered to indicate cytotoxicity. As a positive control, surfactin or supernatants from known cytotoxic *B. cereus* strains may be used.

An alternative method is to measure propidium iodide (PI) uptake in Vero cell suspensions using a spectrofluorimeter. Two-day-old confluent monolayers of Vero cells should be used as described above. Cell suspensions contained a final concentration of about  $10^6$  cells in 2 mL EC buffer containing PI (5 µg/mL) should be held in a thermostatically controlled (37°C) 1-cm quartz cuvette to which the toxin is then added. Cells should be continuously mixed by the use of a magnetic stirrer and 'flea'. Fluorescence should be monitored every 30 s using excitation/emission wavelengths of 575/615 nm and 5 nm slits for both. Results are used without subtraction of background fluorescence. For this alternative method with PI uptake or lactate dehydrogenase, values above 20% of the fluorescence/ absorbance obtained from the positive control (usually detergent treated cells) are considered to indicate cytotoxicity.

# Annex B – List of bibliographic references used to derive microbiological cut-off values

- Aarestrup FM, Agerso Y, Gerner–Smidt P, Madsen M and Jensen LB, 2000. Comparison of antimicrobial resistance phenotypes and resistance genes in *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecium* from humans in the community, broilers, and pigs in Denmark. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease, 37, 127–137.
- Achard A, Guérin-Faublée V, Pichereau V, Villers C and Leclercq R, 2008. Emergence of macrolide resistance gene *mph*(B) in *Streptococcus uberis* and cooperative effects with *rdm*C-like gene. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 52, 2767–2770.
- Adimpong DB, Sørensen KI, Thorsen L, Stuer-Lauridsen B, Abdelgadir WS, Nielsen DS, Derkx PMF and Jespersen L, 2012. Antimicrobial Susceptibility of *Bacillus* strains isolated from primary starters for African traditional bread production and characterization of the bacitracin operon and bacitracin biosynthesis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 78, 7903–7914.
- Aloisio I, Santini C, Biavati B, Dinelli G, Cencič A, Chingwaru W, Mogna L and Di Gioia G, 2012. Characterization of *Bifidobacterium* spp. strains for the treatment of enteric disorders in newborns. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 96, 1561–1576.
- Ammor MS, Florez AB, van Hoek AHAM, de los Reyes-Gavilan CG, Aarts HJM, Margolles A and Mayo B, 2008. Molecular characterization of intrinsic and acquired antibiotic resistance in lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria. Molecular Microbiololgy and Biotechnology, 14, 6–15.
- Arboleya S, Ruas-Madiedo P, Margolles A, Solís G, Salminen S, de los Reyes-Gavilán CGC and Gueimonde M, 2011. Characterization and in vitro properties of potentially probiotic *Bifidobacterium* strains isolated from breast-milk. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 149, 28–36.
- Barbosa J, Ferreira V and Teixeira P, 2009. Antibiotic susceptibility of enterococci isolated from traditional fermented meat products. Food Microbiology, 26, 527–532.
- Başbülbül G, Özteber M and Biyik HH, 2015. Antibiotic resistance in lactic acid bacteria isolated from fermented dairy products and boza. Journal of Microbiology, Biotechnology and Food Sciences, 4, 513–517.
- Billström H, Lund B, Sullivan A and Nord CE, 2008. Virulence and antimicrobial resistance in clinical *Enterococcus faecium*. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 32, 374–377.
- Blandino G, Milazzo I and Fazio D, 2008. Antibiotic susceptibility of bacterial isolates from probiotic products available in Italy. Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease, 20, 199–203.
- Butaye P, Devries LA and Haesebrouck F, 1999. Phenotypic Distinction in *Enterococcus faecium* and *Enterococcus faecalis* strains between susceptibility and resistance to growth-enhancing antibiotics. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 43, 2569–2570.
- Butaye P, Van Damme K, Devriese LA, Van Damme L, Baele M, Lauwers S and Haesebrouck F, 2000. In vitro susceptibility of *Enterococcus faecium* isolated from food to growth-promoting and therapeutic antibiotics. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 54, 181–187.
- Cameron M, Saab M, Heider L, McClure JT, Rodriguez-Lecompte JC and Sanchez J, 2016. Antimicrobial susceptibility patterns of environmental streptococci recovered from bovine milk samples in the maritime provinces of Canada. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 3, 79. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets. 2016.00079
- Casado Muñoz MC, Benomar N, Lavilla Lerma L, Gálvez A and Abriouel H, Antibiotic resistance of *Lactobacillus pentosus and Leuconostoc pseudomesenteroides* isolated from naturally-fermented Aloreña table olives throughout fermentation process. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 172, 110–118.
- Comunian R, Daga E, Dupre I, Paba A, Devirgiliis C, Piccioni V, Perozzi G, Zonenschain D, Rebecchi A, Morelli L. De Lorentiis A and Giraffa G, 2010. Susceptibility to tetracycline and erythromycin of *Lactobacillus paracasei* strains isolated from traditional Italian fermented foods. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 138, 151–156.
- D'Aimmo MR, Modesto M, Biavati B, 2007. Antibiotic resistance of lactic acid bacteria and *Bifidobacterium* spp. isolated from dairy and pharmaceutical products. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 115, 35–42.
- Danielsen M, Simpson PJ, O'Connor EB, Ross RP and Stanton C, 2007. Susceptibility of *Pediococcus* spp. to antimicrobial agents. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 102, 384–389.
- Danielsen M and Wind A, 2003. Susceptibility of *Lactobacillus* spp. to antimicrobial agents. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 82, 1–11.

- De Graef EM, Decostere A, De Leener E, Goossens H, Baele M and Haesebrouck F, 2007. Prevalence and mechanism of resistance against macrolides, lincosamides, and streptogramins among *Enterococcus faecium* isolates from food-producing animals and hospital patients in Belgium. Microbial Drug Resistance, 13, 135–141.
- Delgado S, Belen Florez A and Mayo M, 2005. Antibiotic susceptibility of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* species from the human gastrointestinal tract. Current Microbiology, 50, 202–207.
- Drago L, Mattina R, Nicola L, Rodighiero V and De Vecchi E, 2011. Macrolide resistance and in vitro selection of resistance to antibiotics in *Lactobacillus* isolates. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 49, 651–656.
- Duranti S, Lugli GA, Mancabelli L, Turroni F, Milani C, Mangifesta M, Ferrario C, Anzalone R, Viappiani A, van Sinderen D and Ventura M, 2017. Prevalence of antibiotic resistance genes among human gut-derived bifidobacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 83, e02894-16. https://doi.org/ 10.1128/aem.02894-16
- Egervarn M, Danielsen M, Roos S, Lindmark H and Lindgren S, 2007. Antibiotic susceptibility profiles of *Lactobacillus reuteri* and *Lactobacillus fermentum*. Journal of Food Protection, 70, 412–418.
- Feichtinger M, Mayrhofer S, Kneifel W and Domig KJ, 2016. Tetracycline resistance patterns of *Lactobacillus buchneri* group strains. Journal of Food Protection, 79, 1741–1747.
- Fernandez E, Alegría A, Delgado S, Martín MC and Mayo B, 2011. Comparative phenotypic and molecular genetic profiling of wild *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* strains of the *L. lactis* subsp. *lactis* and *L. lactis* subsp. *cremoris* genotypes, isolated from starter-free cheeses made of raw milk. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 77, 5324–5335.
- Flórez AB, Campedelli I, Delgado S, Alegría A, Salvetti E, Felis GE, Mayo B and Torriani S, 2016. Antibiotic susceptibility profiles of dairy *Leuconostoc*, analysis of the genetic basis of atypical resistances and transfer of genes in vitro and in a food matrix. PLoS ONE, 11, e0145203. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0145203
- Flórez AB, Danielsen M, Korhonen J, Zycka J, von Wright A, Bardowski J and Mayo B, 2007. Antibiotic survey of *Lactococcus lactis* strains to six antibiotics by Etest, and establishment of new susceptibility-resistance cut-off values. Journal of Dairy Research, 74, 262–268.
- Florez AB, Delgado S and Mayo B, 2005. Antimicrobial susceptibility of lactic acid bacteria isolated from a cheese environment. Canadian Journal of Microbiology, 51, 51–58.
- Flórez AB, Egervärn M, Danielsen M, Tosi L, Morelli L, Lindgren S and Mayo B, 2006. Susceptibility of Lactobacillus plantarum strains to six antibiotics and definition of new susceptibility-resistance cutoff values. Microbiological Drug Resistance, 12, 252–256.
- Georgieva R, Yocheva L, Tserovska L, Zhelezova G, Stefanova N, Atanasova A, Danguleva A, Ivanova G, Karapetkov N, Rumyan N and Karaivanova E, 2015. Antimicrobial activity and antibiotic susceptibility of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* spp. intended for use as starter and probiotic cultures, Biotechnology and Biotechnological Equipment, 29, 84–91.
- Gevers D, Masco L, Baert L, Huys G, Debevere J and Swings J, 2003. Prevalence and diversity of tetracycline resistant lactic acid bacteria and their *tet* genes along the process line of fermented dry sausages. Systematic and Applied Microbiology, 26, 277–283.
- Hummel AS, Hertel C, Holzapfel WH and Franz CMAP, 2007. Antibiotic resistance of starter and probiotic strains of lactic acid bacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 73, 730–739.
- Huys G, D'Haene K, Danielsen M, Mättö J, Egervärn M and Vandamme P, 2008. Phenotypic and molecular assessment of antimicrobial resistance in *Lactobacillus paracasei* strains of food origin. Journal of food protection, 71, 339–344.
- Jeong DW and Lee JH, 2105. Antibiotic resistance, hemolysis and biogenic amine production assessments of *Leuconostoc* and *Weissella* isolates for kimchi starter development. LWT-Food Science and Technology, 64, 1078–1084.
- Katla AK, Kruse H, Johnsen G and Herikstad H, 2001. Antimicrobial susceptibility of starter culture bacteria used in Norwegian dairy products. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 67, 147–152.
- Klare I, Konstable C, Werner G, Huys G, Vankerchoven V, Kahlmeter G, Hildebrandt B, Müller-Bertling S, Witte W and Goossens H, 2007. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Lactobacillus*, *Pediococcus* and *Lactococcus* human isolates and cultures intended for probiotic or nutritional use. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 59, 900–912.
- Klare I, Konstable, C, Mûller-Bertling S, Reissbrodt R, Huys G, Vancanneyt M, Swings J, Goossens H and Witte W, 2005. Evaluation of new broth media for microdilution antibiotic susceptibility testing of *Lactobacilli, Pediococci*, Lactococci, and Bifidobacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71, 8982–8986.

- Klein G, 2011. Antibiotic resistance and molecular characterization of probiotic and clinical *Lactobacillus* strains in relation to safety aspects of probiotics. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, 8, 267–281.
- Korhonen JM, 2010. Antibiotic Resistance of Lactic Acid Bacteria. PhD Thesis. UEF Electronic Publicatons, ISBN: 978-952-61-0097-5. Available online: http://epublications.uef.fi/pub/urn\_isbn\_978-952-61-0097-5.pdf
- Korhonen JM, Danielsen M, Mayo B, Egervärn M, Axelsson L, Huys G and von Wright A, 2008. Antimicrobial susceptibility and proposed microbiological cut-off values of lactobacilli by phenotypic determination. International journal of probiotics and prebiotics, 3, 257–268.
- Korhonen JM, Sclivagnotis Y and von Wright A, 2007. Characterization of dominant cultivable lactobacilli and their antibiotic resistance profiles from faecal samples of weaning piglets. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 103, 2496–2503.
- Luo C, Hang X, Liu X, Zhang M, Yang X and Yang H, 2015. Detection of erm(X)-mediated antibiotic resistance in *Bifidobacterium longum* subsp. *Longum*. Annals of Microbiology 65, 1985–1991.
- Masco L, Van Hoorde K, De Brandt E, Swings J and Huys G, 2006. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Bifidobacterium* strains from humans, animals and probiotic products. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 58, 85–94.
- Mättö J, Suihko ML and Saarela M, 2006. Comparison of three test media for the antimicrobial susceptibility testing of bifidobacteria with the Etest method. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 28, 42–48.
- Mättö J, van Hoek AHAM, Domig KJ, Saarela M, Belén Flórez A, Brockmann E, Amtmann E, Mayo B, Aarts HJM and Danielsen M, 2007. Susceptibility of human and probiotic *Bifidobacterium* spp. to selected antibiotics as determined by the Etest method. International Dairy Journal, 17, 1123–1131.
- Mayrhofer S, Domig KJ, Amtmann E, Van Hoek AHAM, Petersson A, Mair C, Mayer HK and Kneifel W, 2007. Antibiotic susceptibility of *Bifidobacterium thermophilum* and *Bifidobacterium pseudolongum* isolates from animal sources. Journal of Food Protection, 70, 119–124.
- Mayrhofer S, Mair C, Kneifel W and Domig KJ, 2011. Susceptibility of bifidobacteria of animal origin to selected antimicrobial agents. Chemotherapy Research and Practice, e2011:989520, https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2011/989520
- Mayrhofer S, van Hoek AHAM, Mair C, Huys G, Aarts HJM, Kneifel W and Domig KJ, 2010. Antibiotic susceptibility of members of the *Lactobacillus acidophilus* group using broth microdilution and molecular identification of their resistance determinants. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 144, 81–87.
- Mory F, Fougnot S, Rabaud C, Schuhmacher H and Lozniewski A, 2005. In vitro activities of quinupristin/dalfopristin, linezolid and other antibiotics alone and in combination against *Propionibacterium acnes* isolates from central nervous system infections. Journal of Animicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 55, 265–268.
- Moubareck C, Gavini F, Vaugien L, Bute, MJ and Doucet-Populaire F, 2005. Antimicrobial susceptibility of bifidobacteria. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 55, 38–44.
- Muñoz-Atienza E, Araújo C, del Campo R, Hernández PE, Herranz C and Cintas LM, 2016. Safety assessment and molecular genetic profiling by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) and PCR-based techniques of *Enterococcus faecium* strains of food origin. LWT Food Science and Technology, 65, 357–362.
- Muñoz-Atienza E, Gómez-Sala B, Araújo C, Campanero C, del Campo R, Hernández PE, Herranz C and Cintas LM, 2013. Antimicrobial activity, antibiotic susceptibility and virulence factors of Lactic Acid Bacteria of aquatic origin intended for use as probiotics in aquaculture. BMC Microbiology, 13, 15.
- Nawaz M, Wang J, Zhou A, Ma C, Wu X, Moore JE, Cherie Millar B and Xu J, 2011. Characterization and transfer of antibiotic resistance in lactic acid bacteria from fermented food products. Current Microbiology, 62, 1081–1089.
- Oprica C and Nord C, 2005. European surveillance study on the antibiotic susceptibility of *Propionibacterium acnes*. Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 11, 204–213.
- Quintanilha Chaves J, Soares Pires E and Marcos Vivoni A, 2011. Genetic diversity, antimicrobial resistance and toxigenic profiles of *Bacillus cereus* isolated from food in Brazil over three decades. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 147, 12–16.
- Rojo-Bezares B, Saenz Y, Poeta P, Zarazaga M, Ruiz-Larrea F and Torres C, 2006. Assessment of antibiotic susceptibility within lactic acid bacteria strains isolated from wine. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 111, 234–240.

- Ross JI, Snelling AM, Eady EA, Cove JH, Cunlife WJ, Leyden JJ, Collignon, P, Bredno B, Reynaud A, Fluhr J and Oshima S, 2001. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of antibiotic resistant *Propionibacterium acnes* isolated from acne patients attending dermatology clinics in Europe, the U.S.A., Japan and Australia. British Journal of Dermatology, 144, 339–346.
- Schmitz FJ, Verhoef J and Fluit AC, 1999. Prevalence of resistance to MLS antibiotics in 20 European university hospitals participating in the European SENTRY surveillance programme. Sentry Participants Group. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 43, 783–792.
- Shao Y, Zhang W, Guo H, Pan L, Zhang H and Sun T, 2015. Comparative studies on antibiotic resistance in *Lactobacillus casei* and *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Food Control, 50, 250–258.
- Souza TC, Silva AM, Drews JR, Gomes DA, Vinderola CG and Nicoli JR 2013. In vitro evaluation of *Bifidobacterium* strains of human origin for potential use in probiotic functional foods. Beneficial microbes, 4, 179–186.
- Swenson JM, Facklam RR and Thornsberry C, 1990. Antimicrobial susceptibility of vancomycin-resistant *Leuconostoc, Pediococcus* and *Lactobacillus* species. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 34, 543–549.
- Tankovic J, Leclerq R and Duval J, 1993. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Pediococcus* sp. and genetic basis of macrolide resistance in *Pediococcus acidilactici* HM3020. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 37, 789–792.
- Tosi L, Berruti G, Danielsen M, Wind A, Huys G and Morelli L, 2007. Susceptibility of *Streptococcus thermophilus* to antibiotics. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek, 92, 21–28.
- Tremblay CL, Letellier A, Quessy S, Boulianne M, Daignault D and Archambault M, 2011. Multipleantibiotic resistance of *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecium* from caecal contents in broiler chicken and turkey flocks slaughtered in Canada and plasmid colocalization of *tet*O and *erm*B genes. Journal of food protection, 74, 1639–1648.
- Xiao J-Z, Takahashi S, Odamaki T, Yaeshima T and Iwatsuki K, 2010. Antibiotic susceptibility of bifidobacterial strains distributed in the Japanese market. Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry, 74, 336–342.